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Foreword


Five decades after his death in 1960, Major General Sir Samuel Roy Burston, KBE, CB, DSO, FRACP, FRCP, FRCP (Edin.) remains a towering figure in Australian military medicine. He spent most of his life of 72 years in the Australian Army, having joined the Victorian Infantry Brigade as a 13 year-old boy bugler soon after the Australian colonies federated in 1901. At his death he was the Honorary Colonel of the Royal Australian Army Medical Corps, which he led through the critical years of World War II, when allied military forces were struggling to drive the Japanese from the Australian territories in Papua and New Guinea after their invasion in early 1942.


As Director General of Medical Services for the Australian Army, Burston had the heavy responsibility of superintending the Army Medical Services as they supported the combat troops. Comprising the Australian Army Medical Corps, the Australian Army Nursing Service, the Australian Army Medical Women’s Service and the Red Cross Voluntary Aid Detachments, these services rapidly expanded into a vast medical military enterprise numbering 32,000 uniformed personnel in 420 separate medical units. They operated throughout the Middle East, in the archipelagos of the south-west Pacific region, and in every Australian state and territory. No head of Australian military medical services before or since has been called upon to manage such a large and diverse organisation, or through such a severe crisis as that which Australia faced between 1942 and 1944.


Before his appointment as Director General of Medical Services in April 1942, Major-General Burston was the Director of Medical Services for the 2nd Australian Imperial Force in the Middle East from 1940 to 1942. During World War I he served with field ambulances on Gallipoli, and later on the Western Front in Flanders. At the Battle of Messines Ridge in June 1917, he commanded an advanced dressing station with distinction, for which he was awarded the DSO and promoted to lieutenant-colonel. During the inter-war years he commanded the Medical Corps in the 4th Military District, in South Australia, with the rank of colonel.


As Director of Medical Services in the Middle East, Burston led the medical services in their support of the combat troops during the Allied campaigns in Egypt, Libya, Greece and Crete, Palestine, Lebanon and Syria. In doing so, he enjoyed the full confidence of the commander of the 2nd Australian Imperial Force, General Sir Thomas Blamey, who soon promoted him from colonel to brigadier, and then to major-general.


The official medical historian of World War II, Colonel Allan S. Walker, referred extensively to Major-General Burston in his four monumental volumes in the official war history series. So, too, did the centenary historian of the Royal Australian Army Medical Corps, Dr Michael Tyquin, in his institutional history of the Corps. This present book, A Medical Emergency: Major-General ‘Ginger’ Burston and the Army Medical Services in World War II, is, however, the first full biography of Burston.


One is greatly surprised that this should be the case. Burston was, after all, a figure of such heroic proportions that I would have thought he would have attracted the interest of historians long before now, more than half a century after his death. On the other hand, perhaps one should not be so surprised, as it is only in the past dozen years that historians have begun reassessing the role of the Army Medical Services in the wars of the twentieth century. Dr Tyquin’s and Mr Stuart Braga’s biographies of Major General Sir Neville Howse, VC, KCB, KCMG, who commanded the medical services of the 1st Australian Imperial Force during World War I, were published in 1999 and 2000 respectively. In 2008 Dr Ian Howie-Willis, the author of this present book, published his book-length biography of Major-General Rupert Downes, CMG, FRACS, MD, MS, who led the medical services into World War II.


Books like those just mentioned do much to make up for the previous dearth of studies of the military medical services. This magnificent book now complements its predecessors by providing a detailed study of the life and work of one of the most significant medical generals ever to have served in the Australian Military Forces. This book will stand proudly alongside the earlier biographies of Howse and Downes, allowing readers in general, and students of Australian military history in particular, to appreciate fully how Burston helped shape the Army Medical Services.


As this biography demonstrates clearly, Burston’s leadership of the medical services in those grim years of Australia’s greatest military crisis—1942, 1943 and 1944—was crucial to the eventual Allied victory over the Japanese. In particular, by leading the successful fight against malaria, Burston did much to make the Allies’ military successes possible. He prevailed upon the allied commanders, Blamey and General Douglas MacArthur, to give primacy to the campaign against malaria, a disease that was quite literally decimating the Allied and enemy forces alike in New Guinea.


In 1943 Burston established the Army Medical Research Unit under the acknowledged Australian expert on tropical diseases, Colonel (later Sir) Neil Hamilton Fairley. This unit did pioneering research, the practical results of which enabled the military medical services to reduce the rates of malarial infection among allied forces to levels low enough to enable the troops to continue fighting towards their eventual victory.


This book is a worthy tribute to Samuel Roy Burston, the man, the physician and the general. It also contributes greatly to knowledge of how the work of his team of eminent doctor-soldiers was critical in supporting the combat units that won the war for the allies. Burston and all members of the medical services served Australia wonderfully well in the nation’s time of great need. In producing this detailed, pivotal work, Dr Howie-Willis has filled a large gap in Australian military medical history.


After reading A Medical Emergency, I conclude that it is not only a compelling personal and professional biography, but will form an essential reference text for all students of Australian military history, especially if they have a particular interest in the medical services. I accordingly commend it both to readers of Australian history and heritage and to those with a special interest in military history.


Major General John Pearn, AM, RFD, (Retd.)
Sometime Surgeon General, Australian Defence Force
Office of the Professor of Paediatrics and Child Health
Royal Children’s Hospital
Brisbane Qld 4029
April 2011




Preface


Roy Burston’s parents gave him the first name Samuel for his paternal grandfather, an immigrant to the Victorian goldfields from Somerset and Devon, who made good in the land of his adoption. He named his own first son Samuel, but preferred himself to be known by his second name, Roy. His friends, however, usually called him ‘Ginger’, the nickname he acquired at Melbourne Grammar School because of his sandy-red hair.


Burston was born into privilege. The Burstons were maltsters who prospered. Through take-overs and mergers, by the early 1900s their family firm had become the largest malting company in Melbourne. The family’s prosperity enabled Burston’s father to indulge his two main interests outside business—the army and the Melbourne City Council. He eventually rose to be a major-general in the former and the lord mayor of the latter.


The father greatly influenced the son, who spent 53 of his 72 years in or associated with the Australian Army. The son, however, did not enter the family business like his older brother, but opted to study medicine. After his graduation he practised first as a general practitioner, then later as a specialist physician. Medicine enabled him to pursue his interest in matters military, for as soon after graduation as he could, he joined the Australian Army Medical Corps (AAMC, later Royal-RAAMC). He remained a member of the Corps for most of his life.


Even before he could join the AAMC, Roy Burston showed a precocious interest in soldiering. His military career began in the months after Australian Federation in 1901, when he joined a militia unit commanded by his father. During his first year at Melbourne Grammar School, he became a bugler in the 2nd Battalion of the Victorian Infantry Brigade at age 13. He spent five years as a bugler, leaving only because he found after a year at university that he must concentrate on his medical studies.


During his five decades in the AAMC, Burston climbed each rung of the promotional ladder for medical officers, from captain to major, then lieutenant-colonel, colonel, brigadier, major-general and finally, in retirement, Honorary Colonel of the Corps. As an AAMC officer, he served in two world wars and in many war theatres—Gallipoli, the Western Front, the Middle East, Greece, South-East Asia and New Guinea. During that time, his war service took him to many nations.


The places he visited included—in approximate order—Egypt, Turkey, Britain, France, Belgium, Palestine, Libya, Greece, Syria, Lebanon, Sri Lanka (then Ceylon), Indonesia (then the Netherlands East Indies), Papua and New Guinea, India, Myanmar (then Burma), Canada, the USA, Japan, and every state and territory in Australia. Probably few officers of the AAMC before or since have travelled as widely on active service.


Producing a book about Roy Burston without also writing one about the AAMC would be difficult. For much of his life, and especially through the critical years of World War II, Burston was so intimately and inextricably involved with the AAMC that he and the Corps cannot be considered apart from each other.


This was especially the case during the campaigns in Papua and New Guinea between 1942 and 1945, when malaria became as much the enemy of Australian troops as the Japanese were. As the Director General of Medical Services (DGMS), Burston soon recognised that malaria threatened to nullify the struggle against the Japanese forces who had invaded Australia’s island territories and all of south-east Asia and the south-west Pacific region. He accordingly prevailed upon his Commander-in-Chief (C-in-C), General Sir Thomas Blamey, and the allied commander in the South-West Pacific Area (SWPA), General Douglas MacArthur, to give the fight against malaria the highest priority in the war against Japan.


After securing the commanders’ support, Burston established the Land Headquarters Medical Research Unit (LHQ MRU) to investigate every aspect of the disease—the Plasmodium parasites and the Anopheles mosquitoes that carry them from one victim to another, the most effective drugs for suppressing malarial infection, and the treatment regimes and anti-malarial precautionary measures necessary for minimising the disastrous impact malaria was having on the combat troops.


Burston assembled a first-rate team of experimental scientists from among the officers of the AAMC—malariologists, parasitologists, pathologists, entomologists and pharmacologists—to undertake the unit’s program of research. Concerted application of the unit’s research findings by medical personnel and military commanders eventually succeeded in reducing the rate of hospitalisation from malaria from over a hundred cases per thousand troops a week to fewer than one. That in turn made possible the allied victory because—as one military medical expert has pointed out—‘if a soldier has clinical malaria, with fevers sometimes in excess of 41°C and rigors [abrupt attacks of shivering], he is unable to shoot straight, let alone fight’.1


Roy Burston played a pivotal role in the successes of the Australian Army in World War II. He commanded the medical services of the 2nd Australian Imperial Force (AIF) in the Middle East from June 1940 until March 1942. In that time he superintended their support of the combat troops during the campaigns in Cyrenaica, Greece, Crete, the Siege of Tobruk and in Syria. Returning to Australia in March 1942, he was soon appointed as DGMS. As such, he commanded the Army Medical Directorate (AMD) at Victoria Barracks, Melbourne, the nerve centre of the Army Medical Services (AMS), comprising the AAMC, the Australian Army Nursing Service (AANS), the Australian Army Medical Women’s Service (AAMWS) and the associated Red Cross Voluntary Aid Detachments (VAD).


Because positions within the medical hierarchy were commonly referred to by their acronyms, an explanation of military-medical staff nomenclature may assist the reader. The following table sets out acronyms that became common terminology.





	Position


	Function and rank





	Director General of Medical Services (DGMS)


	The principal army medical officer, head of the AMS, based at army headquarters in Melbourne; usually a major-general.





	Inspector General of Medical Services (IGMS)


	The senior army medical officer who was charged in 1941–42 to inspect AAMC units in Australia and overseas. This position was specially established for the former DGMS, Major-General Rupert Downes, and only ever held by him.





	Director of Medical Services (DMS)


	The principal medical officer of an Australian army serving either overseas or within Australia; usually a major-general.





	Deputy Director of Medical Services (DDMS)


	The principal medical officer of an army corps, a formation composed of more than one division; usually a brigadier or a colonel.





	Assistant Director of Medical Services (ADMS)


	The principal medical officer in a division, or another senior medical staff officer; usually a colonel or lieutenant-colonel.





	Deputy Assistant Director of Medical Services (DADMS)


	Assistant to the ADMS of a division, or to another senior medical staff officer; usually a major.







During 1942–43 the number of uniformed personnel controlled by the AMS swiftly rose to an historic maximum strength of some 32,000. This number included some 2500 doctors, 3500 nurses and 900 non-medical officers. Representing around eight per cent of the Army’s total strength, AMS personnel were widely dispersed between the Middle East, Australia, the Australian Territories of Papua and New Guinea, and later in Borneo, in about 420 separate medical units. No Australian head of military medical services before or since has had to manage an organisation so large, diverse and widely dispersed. None has ever borne such huge responsibilities as Burston did during the critical years between 1942 and 1944, when Australians feared imminent Japanese invasion.


For the medical services, World War II was a period of prolonged crisis, or rather a series of end-on crises. These began with the mobilisation of the AAMC at the outbreak of war, and the rush to establish a system of military hospitals to handle the flood of casualties the war seemed likely to generate.


As the troops went into action in the Middle East, medical units found themselves hampered by shortages of supplies and equipment. Evacuating casualties over long distances and under enemy bombardment from the front in Libya to the military hospitals in Egypt and Palestine caused great difficulties.


Catastrophe ensued when all the equipment of the 6th Division’s medical units had to be abandoned in Greece and Crete after the rapid German advances there. A further catastrophe followed soon after Japan entered the war, when the 8th Division—with its medical units, personnel and equipment—was lost after the division surrendered in Malaya. The crises continued in Papua and New Guinea, where Australian forces were driven into retreat by the Japanese advance.


The island campaigns were always difficult for the medical services as they sought to support the combat troops in the precipitous, jungle-clad mountains, swampy lowlands and wet tropical climate of New Guinea. Malaria soon emerged as a major enemy, and remained so throughout the war in the SWPA. As the title of this book suggests, the crises were so numerous and of such magnitude that World War II became a long-running emergency for the military medical services.


During most of these crises, Roy Burston played a critical central role in coordinating the support that the AMS gave combat troops. Through his leadership, effort and diplomatic skills the AMS found ways around most of the obstacles they encountered. This enabled them to play their appointed part in helping win the war.


After Burston’s retirement in January 1948, a grateful Australian government eventually knighted him. As Major-General Sir Samuel Roy Burston, he lived an active public life until his death in August 1960. His service to the community included long periods of office as the Chief Commissioner (national head) of the St John Ambulance Brigade, Medical Director of the Australian Red Cross Society, and chairman of the Moonee Valley Racing Club (MVRC).


After Roy Burston’s sudden, but almost inevitable, death from a ruptured aortic aneurysm, his obituaries were lavish in their praise. They described a military commander whose calmness under great pressure, affable nature, positive outlook and sound judgement had inspired subordinates. They described a doctor who, as a specialist physician in private practice, had been much loved by his patients and colleagues.


The leader they portrayed was one with charisma, who was nevertheless a fine judge of character and an outstanding administrator who placed the correct appointees in the right positions, then delegated effectively to them. In paying generous tribute to Burston, one of his oldest and closest military medical colleagues, Brigadier Sir William W.S. Johnston, expressed the belief that it was unlikely that Burston’s record of long and honourable service to the AMS ‘would ever again be equalled’. Arguably, it never has been. The account of Burston’s life that follows seeks to determine to what extent such claims are justified.


Ian Howie-Willis
Canberra
March 2011
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1


The Maltsters, 1852–1914


Samuel Roy Burston (1888–1960) was the grandson of British immigrants to Australia who prospered in their adopted country. His English paternal grandparents and Scottish-Irish maternal grandparents, who migrated separately to Victoria during the gold rushes of the 1850s, met, married, produced children, and worked hard to establish successful commercial enterprises. By doing so, they ensured that the families they founded climbed higher through colonial society than the level at which they had entered.


The surnames of Burston’s grandparents reflected their diverse and ancient origins. Burston is the name of villages in at least four widely dispersed English counties, and is of Anglo-Saxon origin. The first syllable derives variously from burgh (hill or fortress) or byrst (rough ground); the second is from tun (farmstead or settlement). The maiden name of Burston’s paternal grandmother, Keath, is from the ancient British word for forest, but is English, whereas the much more common Keith is Scottish. Burston’s grandmother was from Cambridgeshire, where Keath occurs most often.


Burston’s maternal grandparents had Scottish surnames. His mother’s father was a McBean, a name from the north of Scotland (literally ‘son of life’ in Gaelic); her mother was a Morrison, another Scottish name, most common on the Isle of Lewis in the outer Hebrides, though she was from the Ulster Scottish community of Antrim, in Northern Ireland.1


Samuel Burston Jnr. and Sophy Keath


Burston’s paternal grandfather, Samuel Burston Jnr. (1831–18862) seems to have arrived in Victoria aboard the Birmingham in 1852 ‘during the stirring times of the first discoveries of gold’.3 Then about 20, he was born at Oak Mills, some eight kilometres west of Taunton, the county town of Somerset. Samuel was the fourth of the six children of Samuel Burston Snr., a miller, and his wife Susan (née Carpenter), who married in 1824 in St James parish church in Taunton.


At some time during Samuel Jnr.’s early childhood the family moved south into the next county, Devon, for by the time of the 1841 census they were living in East Budleigh, a village near the coast about 13 kilometres north-east of Exmouth.4 Little is known about Samuel Jnr. before he emigrated to Australia, and exactly when and how he arrived is uncertain. It seems, however, that he followed his older sister Emma, who reached Victoria as an 18 year old ‘assisted’, or government-subsidised, immigrant aboard the ship Lady Peel in 1848, and then married a fellow passenger, William Hartnell.5


[image: image]


Samuel Burston (c.1831–1886), grandfather of Roy Burston. (Photograph courtesy of Geraldine McFarlane.)


After arriving in Victoria Samuel Burston settled in Kilmore, then a small town 60 kilometres north of Melbourne on the main road to Sydney. He became a shopkeeper there, running a general store in Somerset House in the main street,6 and lived in the Kilmore district for about 17 years. On 2 July 1855, in the Anglican cathedral church of St James7 in William Street, Melbourne, he married a recent immigrant from England, Sophy Keath (c.1830–1899). Sophy, who was a year or two older than her husband,8 had only been in Victoria for six months, having arrived as an unassisted immigrant aboard the Orwell in January 1855.9


The first of their three children, James Burston (1856–1920), who became the father of Samuel Roy Burston, was born in Kilmore on 1 May 1856. He was given the name of his mother’s only brother, James Keath. A short-lived daughter, Agnes Sophy Burston (1858–1859), followed the next year, and a second son, George William Burston (1859–1924), was born two years after that.10


Sophy Burston was the youngest of three children of John Keath, a farmer, and his wife Elizabeth (née Hagger), who lived in Stapleford, a small village six kilometres south-east of Cambridge.11 She had followed her older brother James to Victoria. James Keath (c.1828–1896), two years older than Sophy, had emigrated 27 months earlier, reaching Victoria as an unassisted immigrant aboard the Marlborough in November 1852.12 He settled in the Kilmore district, where he became a farmer at Bylands, on the main road seven kilometres south of Kilmore.


[image: image]


Sophy Burston (née Keath, c.1830–1899), paternal grandmother of Roy Burston. (Photograph courtesy of Geraldine McFarlane.)


James probably provided the link between Sophy and Samuel Burston, because she seems to have lived with James near Kilmore after arriving in Victoria. Perhaps she met the young Kilmore storekeeper from Devon and Somerset on a shopping trip into town with her brother. Whether or not that was how they met, Sophy and Samuel Burston later became the connection between James Keath and the woman he married in 1861—Jane Carpenter Burston (c.1831–1895), who was the oldest of Samuel Burston’s five siblings. Jane Burston arrived in Victoria in 1859 and settled in Kilmore. She and James Keath were married two years later in Kilmore, on 5 November 1861, with the bride’s brother Samuel as the best man.13


The initial closeness of the Burstons and the Keaths can also be seen in the naming of their children: Samuel and Sophy Burston’s firstborn, James, was given the Christian name of his mother’s only brother. The two couples, however, seem to have become estranged from each other, because in October 1865 the Kilmore courthouse was the setting for a remarkable legal wrangle between them. Jane Keath successfully sued her younger brother, Samuel Burston, for £104 in unpaid wages. She claimed that she had immigrated to Australia to be her brother’s salaried housekeeper, but had never been paid during the two years she spent in his employment. He counter-claimed that he paid her fares from England to become a member of his household, and fully supported her until her marriage.


During the hearing Sophy Burston caused a disturbance by continually prompting her husband as he gave his evidence. This caused such hilarity among those present that the judge, Justice C.B.G. Skinner, had her ejected from the courtroom. She then sat just outside the entrance, from where she attempted to continue her prompting.14 The two families probably remained unreconciled, because when Samuel Burston died 21 years later, Jane was the only one among his siblings to whom he left no bequest.15


Samuel Burston proved an enterprising businessman who made the most of the opportunities that Victoria offered. He is thought to have invested in a brewery at Castlemaine, north of Kilmore in central Victoria.16 As his business interests prospered, in 1861 he and Sophy bought land nine kilometres north-east of Kilmore, on the main Sydney road. There they built a bluestone cottage on a rise above the road. The cottage eventually grew into a colonial-style homestead called Oak Park.17 It stands on the lower slopes of Prospect Hill, a long ridge between Kilmore and Broadford, offering extensive views of the surrounding countryside.18


Establishing the Burston family malting business


Samuel Burston’s great step upwards into commerce and industry, however, followed his decision to quit farming in favour of becoming a maltster, a manufacturer of malt, one of the principal raw materials of the brewing industry. What prompted this move is unknown, but perhaps it was his eye for a good business opportunity. How and where he gained his knowledge of malting is uncertain, but it is possible that he returned to England for a year or so to learn what he could about the trade. In 1869 he took over the Flinders Street malthouse of J. Gough and Sons19 at the south-east end of the city centre, next to a tavern, the Fail Me Never.20 He and his family moved into nearby accommodation, first at Jolimont on the city’s eastern fringe, then to Spring Street, and finally into a mansion he had built at the eastern end of Flinders Street.21


The malthouse was a five-storey structure with steam and gas powered equipment. Burston proved to be both enterprising and innovative as a maltster. He toured Europe and America in 1879 to see for himself the latest in malting technology. While touring he bought plans for a ‘Saladin’, or pneumatic, malthouse. This type of malting was named for its inventor, Charles Saladin, a French engineer who developed the Saladin box, with a metal screen base through which the germinating barley could be aerated. Instead of being spread out on a concrete floor, as previously, the barley could be poured into the box a metre deep and air blown under pressure and at set temperatures through the screen. The Saladin process saved time by enabling much higher volumes of barley to be malted, and it economised on space by obviating the need for the earlier multi-storeyed malting towers like the one that Burston took over.22


The Burston firm flourished after introducing the Saladin process. Its produce became so popular that the firm could charge three pence a bushel (two cents per 36.4 litres) more than its competitors.23 It expanded in Victoria and ventured into the other colonies by taking over the malthouses of rivals. By the turn of the twentieth century the two main malting industry competitors in Melbourne were the Burstons and Barrett Brothers, a Richmond firm founded in 1886. The two firms merged in 1913 as Barrett Bros. & Burston & Co. Pty. Ltd. By this stage the third generation of Burston maltsters, in the person of James Stanley (Stan) Burston (1886–1963), the oldest son of James Burston, was rising through the company’s management.24


The subsequent history of Barrett Burston Malting Co. Pty. Ltd. (the company’s later name) is not particularly relevant to the course of the events outlined in this book. The firm’s prosperity certainly underlined the advantages of education, social position and career opportunities—the social capital—of the Burston clan’s third, fourth and later generations. Few of them, however, worked for the firm, and most sought careers elsewhere. In time the later generations would know little about the company other than that it bore the name of their Burston ancestor, and that it became a major player in the nation’s beer and malt manufacturing industries, with branches in many of Australia’s major cities.
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‘Oak Park’, Prospect Hill, near Broadford, Victoria, the homestead built by Samuel and Sophy Burston.


The malthouse at the eastern end of Flinders Street has long since disappeared. By 1907 the original firm, Samuel Burston & Co., had moved its head office a block away to 11–13 Collins Place at the ‘fashionable’ eastern end of Collins Street.25 A century hence the only local reminder of the business that Samuel Burston developed on Flinders Street was Malthouse Lane, a narrow alleyway running between Exhibition Street and Flinders Lane that had once given access to the rear of his malthouse.


As the family malting firm prospered, Samuel Burston and his older son James became the occupants of two large, adjoining and almost identical, residences further east in Flinders Street from their malthouse. These were Kersbrook, Samuel’s home at 14 Flinders Street, and Windarra, James’s home at number 16. 26 Three storeys high and built in the florid Italianate style then popular among those who could afford such architecture, the two houses survived until the early 1960s, when they were demolished for office space.27 At the time of their demolition Stan Burston told a newspaper reporter that they had been ‘pretty expensive’ to build, and had often been ‘the scene of gatherings of some of Melbourne’s wealthiest and best-known families of the day’.28
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‘Kersbrook’, the house built by Samuel and Sophy Burston at 14 Flinders Street, Melbourne. (Photograph courtesy of Geraldine McFarlane.)


The construction of Kersbrook and Windarra signalled the ascendance of the Burston clan into the ranks of Melbourne’s manufacturing elite. Samuel became vice-president of the Chamber of Manufacturers and an active member of the Victorian Corn Trade Association.29 Wealthy manufacturers as they then were, they could afford to live in grander style.


By the time the families moved into Kersbrook and Windarra in 1884, Samuel had little time left to enjoy living in his new mansion. He died of diabetes in Kersbrook within two years, on 1 March 1886 at the age of about 54. He was buried the next day in the Wesleyan (Methodist) section of the St Kilda Cemetery, five kilometres south-east of Kersbrook. Sophy lived for another 13½ years. She, too, died at Kersbrook aged about 67, of asthma and heart disease, on 14 September 1899 and was buried the next day in her husband’s grave.30 Although they had been Anglicans, they opted for burial in Methodist ground because Samuel was able to obtain a large plot there. It seems he kept his eye on the main chance to the very last.


After Sophy’s death her second son, the unmarried 40-year old George William Burston, continued living in Kersbrook until about 1904–05, when he moved to a genteel address in the suburbs—Waimanu, a house in Were Street, Brighton, a bayside suburb 11 kilometres south of the city centre.31 George married in 1901 and the first two of his three sons was born before his move to Brighton.32 James Burston occupied Windarra for only eight years. In 1892 he relocated his large family to Hawthorn, an eastern suburb five kilometres from the city centre. He had purchased Carrical, a mansion with extensive grounds and a frontage on the eastern bank of the Yarra River.33


Unfortunately, only a couple of photographs of Samuel and Sophy Burston have survived. What little is known of them is fragmentary—the sparse and sometimes contradictory details of their lives as set out in sources such as their marriage and death certificates, the birth certificates of their children, immigration records, electoral rolls, municipal directories, census data, the genealogical notes of one of their Burston great-granddaughters, and a short commemorative history of the malting firm published in 1972.34


George Burston


At this point in the Burston story we turn to the careers of James and George Burston, the two sons of Samuel and Sophy. Both boys joined the family firm in their early teens during the early 1870s. Both retained their links with it until their deaths some 50 years later, but in the meantime each acquired life-shaping outside involvements. The older brother, James, succeeded his father as head of the family malting firm. His career is outlined in the next section, but before turning to that we will briefly consider George’s remarkable career as a pioneer in the new sport of cycling.35


Like his older brother, George Burston grew up in the family malting business and became one of the partners. Even before their father’s death in 1886 the two brothers were running the company together. George, however, developed an interest in cycling that diverted his attention from the family firm. In 1878, at the age of 19, he became a co-founder of the Melbourne Bicycle Club, when cycling meant riding the ‘high-wheel’ bicycles commonly known as penny-farthings. During the late 1880s he served as the club president.


In 1893, he became a co-founder of the League of Victorian Wheelmen, an organisation for ‘serious’ or semi-professional cyclists, which survived for almost a century until merging with CycleSport Victoria. As well as helping administer the sport, he competed as a road-racing cyclist and at one time held the Australian 100-mile (161-kilometre) record. His time of 8 hours 9 minutes, an average of 19.75 kilometres per hour, would have been respectable on a modern touring cycle rather than a penny-farthing with solid tyres.36


As well as racing, George Burston was a touring cyclist who undertook four overseas cycling tours. The first of these, in 1888, was partly prompted by disagreements with his older brother over the running of the family company. Their contrasting temperaments exacerbated their differing approaches to the business: the older brother was serious, responsible and painstaking, the younger had a relaxed attitude to life and disliked the tedium of routine.37


In November 1888, aged 29, George and a friend, Harry Stokes, set off on a year-long cycling tour of Asia, Europe and the USA. They were the first Australians to attempt such a trip, and among the very few cyclists anywhere in the world who did such touring on penny-farthings. Each place toured produced its own adventures. During the trip George kept a travel diary, which The Australasian newspaper published serially as the tour progressed. This proved so popular that in 1890 George published his diaries as a 315-page book, Round the World on Bicycles: The Pleasure Tour of G.W. Burston and H.R. Stokes.38 George Burston had a natural talent for travel writing. His chatty, conversational style, wry observations on the local scene, and pen-pictures of the tourist sites they visited all made for easy, entertaining reading.
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George Burston (standing), Harry Stokes and their ‘penny-farthing’ bicycles. (Photograph courtesy of Geraldine McFarlane.)


The trip began with an overland ride to Sydney, followed by a boat trip to Java. After touring there, they went on to Malaya, Burma, India, Egypt, Palestine, Italy, France, Britain, Ireland and the USA before returning home to Melbourne by ship via Hawaii and Sydney. Burston and Stokes undertook local cycling tours in most of the places they visited. Depending on the terrain and condition of the roads, they usually travelled between 80 and 160 kilometres) a day.39 In all they rode over 10,000 kilometres through at least 15 countries. After the end of the tour, Burston accepted the inevitable and changed over to the ‘safety’ or diamond-framed bicycle. The penny-farthing used during his world tour eventually passed from his family to the Museum of Victoria, where it is now on display.40


Changing times lay ahead for George Burston as he returned home in December 1889 after his carefree touring with Harry Stokes. The family firm became a limited liability company in 1889, with James Burston as managing director and Frederick P. Stokes, a former banker and the brother of Harry Stokes, as secretary. That year, too, the malthouse moved several doors east to new premises between 84 and 94 Flinders Street. A fire in September 1891—a ‘conflagration’ according to The Argus newspaper—destroyed much of the new malthouse, causing some £10,000 in damage41—about $1.13 million in the values of the early twenty-first century—but rebuilding was completed the next year.


By this time the Australian colonies were in the midst of a catastrophic decade-long economic depression, which impacted heavily on Melbourne in particular. The local land market, which had boomed during the gold rushes, collapsed spectacularly; wool prices slumped; banks crashed; government expenditure dropped by 40 per cent; gross domestic product fell by 30 per cent; and the Victorian unemployment rate rose to 28 per cent.42 According to one source, George Burston was in the USA on another cycling tour when the property bubble burst and the banks failed in 1893; and he ‘had difficulties in finding money to pay [his] fares home’.43


By the end of the century George was settling down at last. He married relatively late, in 1901 at age 42, in St Andrew’s Cathedral, Sydney. His bride, Rose Bennett Carthew, was 16 years his junior. She was born in Orange, New South Wales, the daughter of a farmer, but at the time of the wedding she was living in Darling Point, Sydney.44 The marriage produced three sons, Geoffrie (born 1902), Studley (born 1905) and Victor (born 1909). All three were given the same middle name—Carthew, their mother’s Cornish maiden name. As noted above, the family lived in Were Street, Brighton.


George William Burston died there of pneumonia and heart failure on 12 December 1924, and was buried the next day in Brighton Cemetery. He was 64. As someone who had remained physically fit into middle age, and who had been what would later be called an ‘elite athlete’, he might have expected to live longer. His death certificate described him as a maltster, although he does not seem to have been greatly involved in the family firm since his marriage 23 years earlier, except as a director.45


James Burston


We turn now to James Burston (1856–1920), the dominant older brother. Where he and George attended school is uncertain. Before the family relocated to Melbourne they probably attended local schools in or near Kilmore and Broadford. After the move they possibly attended the National Model School in Spring Street, one of Melbourne’s earliest secular government schools, and George also attended the National Gallery Art School.46
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James Burston as an officer of the Victorian Volunteer Force. (Photograph from Cyclopaedia of Victoria.)


James later claimed to have spent a year at the University of Melbourne, in 1875 when he was 19. He certainly signed the matriculation roll there at the beginning of that year; however, what course he enrolled in is unknown, and the university has no record of any examinations that he might have taken.47
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James Burston as Lord Mayor of Melbourne. (Photograph from Burston family records.)


James had begun work in his father’s malthouse some five years earlier, at 14, and except for military service and travel overseas he remained with the family firm for the rest of his life. In the years preceding his father’s death he ran the business in partnership with both his father and younger brother George and, as seen, became its inaugural managing director when it became a limited liability company in 1889. After the firm joined with Barrett Brothers in 1912 to form the new company Barrett Bros. & Burston and Co. Pty. Ltd, he became one of the four inaugural directors. His oldest son, Stan, and two Barrett brothers were the other directors.48 Stan was the only one among his father’s three sons to work for the firm. He joined its staff in 1907 and remained active in its management until his death in 1963, ‘full of years and respect’ as the company history put it nine years later.49


James Burston married Marianne McBean of East Melbourne in the Independent (Congregational) Church, Collins Street, Melbourne on 12 April 1883. He was 26 and she was 21.50 She was the only daughter among the five children of James McBean (c.1830–1916) and Susanna Morrison (c.1833–1901), who married in Melbourne in 1856. James McBean was a watchmaker and jeweller from Inverness, Scotland, who arrived in Victoria in December 1852 aboard the ship Lizzie Webber. Susanna Morrison arrived from County Antrim, Northern Ireland, in July 1854 on the Monteagle. Both came to Australia as unassisted migrants, that is they paid their own fares.51


James and Marianne Burston produced a large family of three boys and four girls. In birth order they were:


•  Elsie Muriel, born 1884; married Sir Douglas Cooke, a British parliamentarian;


•  Agnes Marianne, born 1885, died 1886;


•  James Stanley (Stan), born 1886; became a director of the family malting firm;


•  Samuel Roy (Roy), born 1888; became a physician and army officer;


•  Ethel Freda (Freda), born 1890; married Douglas Murray, a grazier at Dunkeld, Victoria;


•  Marianne (Molly), born 1891; married Guy Lendon, an Adelaide surgeon; and


•  Gerald Keath, born 1894; after army service in World War I became a grazier at Euroa, Victoria.52


All but possibly the first and last of these children were born while the family lived at Windarra. The oldest, Elsie, was born shortly before or after they occupied the house; the youngest, Gerald, arrived after the move to Carrical.


Carrical, at 4 Mason Street,53 Hawthorn, was a most prestigious address. Built of polychrome brick in the Gothic revival style during the 1860s, it was one of the largest private homes in Hawthorn.54 The purchase of such a mansion was a sign that the second, Australian-born, generation of the Burston family had firmly secured their place within Melbourne’s late colonial commercial elite. In acquiring his new house, however, James Burston could never have guessed that the Victorian government would purchase it in 1997, for conversion into low-rental apartments for low-income tenants.55 As this book went to press it was still being used for that purpose, but subdivision had reduced its once spacious grounds to little more than the size of a suburban building block.


Apart from his family, James Burston’s other great love was the army. He joined the Victorian Volunteer Force, a part-time colonial militia, as a private in January 1873, aged 16.56 He would remain in the army for the next 47 years, until his retirement shortly before his death in 1920. He received his first commission, as a lieutenant, in 1879. In 1885 he was promoted to captain and appointed adjutant of the 2nd Battalion of the Victorian Infantry Brigade in 1889. The following year he was promoted to major and transferred to the 3rd Battalion. That year he also travelled to Britain to undertake training at his own expense with the 2nd Field Column at the British army base at Aldershot.


In 1895 he was promoted to lieutenant-colonel and took command of his former unit, the 2nd Battalion, the motto of which was Nulli secundus (Never second). Burston must have taken the motto to heart, because under his command the battalion won the Brassey competition for marching and field marksmanship on four occasions. The competition was sponsored by the Governor of Victoria, Lord Thomas Brassey, who was also the C-in-C of the Victorian military forces. Members of winning teams received a medal, the Brassey Medal, suspended from a brown and white ribbon, and worn on their uniforms. One of James Burston’s few surviving photographs shows him wearing its ribbon. In 1897 he returned to Britain to participate in Queen Victoria’s Diamond Jubilee celebrations, during which he rode in the principal military procession among the officers representing Victoria.57


A family tradition maintains that James Burston also raised, trained and commanded a Victorian mounted rifle regiment that formed a part of a Victorian contingent that went to South Africa to fight in the Boer War of 1899–1902.58 Of the 117 Australian units and detachments that served during the Boer War, 12 were raised in Victoria;59 however, according to official army records, James Burston was not among the military personnel who went to South Africa with the various Australian colonial and Commonwealth contingents.60 It is possible that he formed a regiment that went to the war, but did not go to South Africa with it. He was certainly very active in officially welcoming home the Victorian contingents returning from South Africa, but that is different to being a ‘returned’ man himself.61


James Burston transferred into the new Australian Army established after Federation by merging the former colonial militias, and was given command of the 6th Australian Infantry Regiment. In January 1905 he resigned over a minor matter of principle, but was placed on the army’s list of unattached officers. He had recommended the promotion of an able young subaltern to captain, but an older lieutenant was promoted instead, on the basis of seniority rather than talent. Burston interpreted the promotion of the latter candidate as a vote of no confidence in his judgement by his senior officers.62


Burston returned to the active list in 1908 as staff officer to the commanding officer of the Victorian Field Force, with the rank of colonel. His next appointment, in 1912, was command of the 2nd Infantry Brigade.63 In March 1914 he was again placed on the unattached list, but after the declaration of war in August 1914, he returned to active service as the chairman of the committee selecting officers for the Australian Imperial Force (AIF) being recruited for service overseas. He chaired the committee until April 1915, when he enlisted in the AIF.64 His wartime service will be outlined later in this chapter.


James Burston’s other abiding interest was the Church of England. What his religious views were is uncertain, but he was at least conventionally devout. After his move to Carrical he became a leading parishioner and regular worshipper at Christ Church, Hawthorn, several blocks away from his home. As well as strongly supporting the clergy of the parish, he represented his congregation in the higher councils of the church, including the national assembly of the Church of England. After his death a brass memorial tablet on the southern interior wall of Christ Church recorded his service to the congregation.65 Marianne Burston did not apparently share her husband’s devotion to the Church of England. After his death she returned to the Presbyterian faith of her Scottish forebears, becoming a prominent member of Scots Church in Melbourne’s central business district.66


Another of James Burston’s great interests, though one not as enduring as his love for the army and church, was local government. In 1900 he became a candidate for the Latrobe Ward in elections for the Melbourne City Council.67 He was elected unopposed, and spent 12 years as a councillor, retiring in 1912. He served two consecutive terms as Lord Mayor, 1908–09 and 1909–10. The issues in which he took particular interest were finance, parks and gardens, the beautification of the Yarra River embankment and adjacent parkland, and street cleaning (then a particular problem because of horse-drawn transport). His name frequently appeared in the Australian newspapers, particularly those in Melbourne, which often quoted his opinions on such matters.68


His mayoral work sometimes aroused controversy. One such occasion was a dispute over Melbourne’s memorial to the late King Edward VII. Burston wished the memorial to have practical use, for example new wards at the Children’s Hospital, whereas the general public preferred the idea of a statue. The popular view prevailed: an heroic bronze equestrian statue on a granite plinth was eventually unveiled in the Queen Victoria Gardens south of the Yarra in 1920. According to one source, the dispute cost him a third term as lord mayor, and the knighthood customarily conferred on mayors who served that long.69


The Burston family later learned of another possible cause for the denial of the knighthood. Years afterwards, a friend of James Burston’s widow explained that the real reason had been his refusal to invite the mistress of the state governor to the Lord Mayor’s Ball, one of the main events on Melbourne’s social calendar. The friend knew the governor’s aide-de-camp, who told her that when the proposals for new knighthoods were submitted to the governor for approval, he deleted Burston’s name from the list ‘with an angry stroke of the pen’.70


In addition to his other interests, James Burston became prominent in Melbourne’s financial institutions. During the 1890s he served as president of the Melbourne Permanent Building Society and vice-president of the Universal Permanent Building and Investment Society. The two firms, which survived the financial crash of 1893, later amalgamated as a result of his effort. He also chaired the Bank of Victoria Ltd., which also survived the crash and eventually (1927) merged with the Commercial Banking Company of Sydney Ltd.71 He was still on the bank board as the vice-chairman in June 1915, when the board granted him leave for overseas service with the AIF.72
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‘Carrical’, Mason Street, Hawthorn, in 2009: still a grand mansion even if given over to low-rental units. (Photograph by Ian Howie-Williss.)


The author of his entry in the Australian Dictionary of Biography, P.H. de Serville, later commented on the personal qualities that he brought to his business interests. ‘Conservative in tastes, Burston was upright and respectable, unswerving and hard working.… While he may have lacked fire and imagination, he was untarnished by the scandals which disfigured the lives of many more colourful men of the age.’73 The latter comment was a reference to the flamboyant businessmen who, unlike James Burston, blithely led Victoria into disastrous depression.


Not all contemporary commentators were as generous as de Serville would be. At the beginning of Burston’s first term as lord mayor, he was subjected to a vicious, sneering attack in the People We Know column of Punch, a satirical Melbourne magazine. Purporting to be an objective personal profile, it claimed Burston was unpopular among his fellow Melbourne councillors because of his ‘cold, verbose egotism’. The article made much of his military involvements. A sample:


Colonel James Burston is … not one of those chuckle-headed dolls who sit still and rise in the forces purely by seniority. He knows a little about the war game (as played in peace)—not much but a little. Most of the colonels … know nothing. Burston was an infantryman. He rose to the command of a regiment somewhere about twelve years ago. He was the first to introduce the excellent system of making officers serve in the ranks before they became subalterns. In this way he collected a staff of officers in his regiment who at least knew their drill.74


And so it ran across most of the page. Whoever wrote it was a master of snide condescension. It was not the only attack that Burston suffered from the same poison pen, however. Seven years later, after he enlisted in the AIF, Punch published a similar broadside against him.75 What he made of these attacks is unknown, but he could hardly have enjoyed being held up to public ridicule by an anonymous magazine columnist.


James Burston in World War I


Despite his age—three weeks short of his 58th birthday—James Burston applied for admission into the AIF, was declared physically fit, and was appointed colonel on 8 April 1915. He was given command of the 7th Infantry Brigade that day. The 7th Brigade comprised four infantry battalions (the 25th, 26th, 27th and 28th) and later also the 7th Machine Gun Company and three trench mortar batteries. It was assigned to the 2nd Division, the other two infantry brigades of which were the 5th and the 6th.


Whereas the other two brigades were raised within single states (the 5th in New South Wales and the 6th in Victoria), the 7th was composed of units from the ‘outer states’, those beyond New South Wales and Victoria.76 As the commander of its headquarters staff, Burston would have supervised the brigade’s formation and its training at military camps near the capital cities of the states in which it was being raised. The headquarters staff of the 7th Brigade were recruited in Queensland, so Burston possibly visited Brisbane soon after his appointment, to meet them before their departure for overseas service. His headquarters staff embarked in Brisbane on 29 June 1915 aboard the Aeneas; however, he had already sailed aboard the Ascania, which left Melbourne on 2 June, the date on which most of the fighting units of his brigade also departed. 77


Two of Burston’s sons also went overseas with the AIF. The first to go was the youngest, Gerald, who enlisted in the AIF a month before his 20th birthday, and three weeks after the declaration of war. He had already spent three years in the Melbourne University Regiment, a militia unit in which he had recently been promoted to lieutenant. He had joined the regiment while still at school, something then possible because it maintained companies in the major private schools, including Geelong Grammar School, where Gerald was school captain. When he enlisted in the AIF he was jackerooing in New South after finishing school.


Gerald was assigned to the 6th Infantry Battalion as a sergeant, and left for overseas service from Melbourne aboard the troopship Honorata on 19 October 1914.78 He served in the Gallipoli campaign, at the end of which he was discharged from the AIF to join the British army as a lieutenant in the Royal Engineers. The middle son, 26 year-old Roy, a medical practitioner and an officer in the Australian Army Medical Corps (AAMC) since 1912, enlisted in the AIF on 26 March 1915. Appointed as a major in the 4th Light Horse Field Ambulance (LH Fd Amb) a month later, he left with his unit from Adelaide on the Borda on 23 June 1915, three weeks after his father’s departure aboard the Ascania.79 We will return to his AIF service.


Although the Melbourne Punch tried hard to disparage James Burston’s prospects in the AIF,80 he served creditably if briefly. The 7th Brigade reached Port Said in Egypt on 30 June, and spent a couple of months training before being sent to Gallipoli. It arrived there on 28 August, after that month’s costly assault on the Turkish positions along the Sari Bair ridge above ANZAC Cove.81 James reached Gallipoli a week later, on 4 September, but remained there for only six weeks before falling ill with dysentery. He was admitted into one of the tent hospitals there on 15 October, and transferred to a hospital ship the next day.


Over the next few days he was shuffled between hospital ships before being sent to the 1st Australian General Hospital (AGH) at Heliopolis near Cairo. James Burston was discharged from hospital for duty on 30 October, after which he returned to Gallipoli briefly, resuming command of the 7th Brigade on 6 November.82 He was soon deemed too old and infirm for active service in such a physically demanding theatre, however, and was replaced. It fell to his physician son Roy, then serving with 7 Fd Amb on Gallipoli, to break this news to him. Years later Roy told his own two soldier sons that the interview with his father was the most difficult he ever conducted.83


Burston’s superior officers let him down gently. Instead of returning him to Australia as unfit for service, they assigned him to a new position away from the front line. This was as officer commanding reinforcements at Mudros camp (the main staging camp for the Gallipoli campaign) on the Greek island of Lemnos, 80 kilometres south-west of Gallipoli. He took up duty there on 30 November. It was an important administrative position, for it involved organising the dispatch of new and rested troops to the front line on the peninsula.84 At any time he might have been responsible for as many as 15,000 troops; on one occasion he paraded that many for inspection by the British Field Marshal Lord Kitchener.85 He would hardly have endeared himself to his fellow officers, however, by puritanically decreeing that the officers’ mess would be ‘dry’.86
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James Burston (right) with his family in the grounds of ‘Carrical’, about 1899. Left–right are: Freda, Molly, Stan, Roy (sitting with dog), Gerald, Marianne and Elsie. (Photograph from Burston family records.)


Back in Cairo again after the allies’ withdrawal from Gallipoli, on 2 February 1916 James Burston was ordered to appear before General William R. Birdwood, the general officer in command of the ANZAC troops ‘for instructions as to his disposal’.87 What transpired at this interview is unknown, but he was probably advised again that he was too old for the rigours of service on the Western Front in Europe, and should think of retiring. After his interview with Birdwood, Burston was ‘invalided to England … prior to returning to Australia’.88


Burston spent almost five months in Britain with his wife during 1916. During his time there The Argus newspaper in Melbourne announced that he had been honoured by appointment as a Companion of the Most Distinguished Order of St Michael and St George (CMG), but that is the only reference to his receiving such an award.89 The announcement came on the first anniversary of the Gallipoli landings, 25 April 1916. How Burston passed his time in Britain is largely unknown. He almost certainly visited Roy, who by then was serving with the AIF there; and he seems to have attended various AIF-related patriotic gatherings in London.90


At the end of his sojourn he departed from Liverpool aboard the Scandinavian on 14 July, to return to Australia via Vancouver. From Vancouver he made the final run home aboard the Makura, which reached Melbourne on 23 August 1916.91 He had been overseas for almost 15 months. His appointment in the AIF formally ended 19 days after his return, on 11 September 1916.92 He was then promoted to honorary brigadier-general and placed on the reserve list of officers. He finally retired in January 1920, four months before his 64th birthday. At his retirement he was granted the honorary rank of major-general.93


James Burston had little time to enjoy the honour the army had bestowed on him, and did not reach his next birthday. He died from a cerebral haemorrhage at Carrical on 4 March 1920. He was buried the next day in the Wesleyan section of the St Kilda Cemetery, six graves from where his parents were buried.94


The sworn value of his estate was £44,355 or about $2.4 million in the values of the early twenty-first century. This was perhaps a relatively small amount for someone who had been such a successful businessman. His estate comprised mostly invested moneys and his two houses. He left most of it to his widow, including the two houses, Carrical and Windarra. 95 She survived him by more than 30 years and in 1950, at the age of 88, like him, she died from a cerebral haemorrhage. She was buried in her husband’s grave the next day.96


Almost a century after his death there is little to remind the general public who James Burston was. The tall red granite monument above his grave might occasionally catch the interest of people wandering through the St Kilda Cemetery; the heritage industry remembers him as the one-time owner of Carrical; his entry in the Australian Dictionary of Biography gives him a niche in the national historical record; and the name of the malting firm he helped found is well known in commercial circles.


There are two bronze memorial plaques commemorating his life, one in Christ Church, Hawthorn, and the other in St Paul’s Cathedral. The latter includes the Burston armorial bearings and repeats the inscription on his tombstone:


In loving memory of Major-General James Burston V.D., born Kilmore 1st May 1855, died ‘Carrical’, Hawthorn 4th March 1920. A citizen soldier for 45 years. Commanded 7th Infantry Brigade A.I.F. at Gallipoli 1915. ‘Not slothful in business—Fervent in spirit—Serving the Lord’.97


Then there is Burston Reserve on the eastern fringe of the Melbourne city centre—a narrow sliver of parkland between the State Parliament House and St Patrick’s Cathedral. The reserve, which contains a memorial to Caroline Chisholm and the Great Petition sculpture,98 recalls the time that James Burston spent as lord mayor.


There was also, of course, the legacy that James Burston passed on to his children. As well as his genes, he gave them his personal example of probity, public service and commitment to the nation’s military forces. In relation to the last of these, James Burston established a family military tradition that influenced his sons and grandsons.
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Education and Marriage, 1901–1914


Samuel Roy Burston preferred to be called by his middle name. To distinguish him from various others of his clan who had the same first name, from here this book will generally refer to him as Roy and occasionally by his nickname, Ginger, used by close friends because of his sandy, red hair.


Roy Burston: birth and childhood


Roy Burston was born in his parents’ home, Windarra, on 21 March 1888. At the birth his mother, Marianne, was attended by Dr C.S. Ryan; also present was a Mrs Ball, perhaps a midwife or nursing aide. His father James registered the birth nine weeks later.1 Roy occupied the mid-position in the birth order of James’s and Marianne’s seven children—the fourth child and the second of the three sons.


With only ten years separating the oldest, Elsie, from the youngest, Gerald, only a year or two intervened between each birth. Even with servants, Marianne would have been kept busy looking after her children and supervising the running of the large family home. After the family moved to Carrical when Roy was four years old, her workload would have increased: the house was much larger; it had extensive grounds; and with Gerald’s birth there were six surviving children to care for.


Roy left few anecdotes about his childhood, although Carrical would have offered many attractions for lively young children. It occupied a large block of about 0.67 hectares (1.7 acres) sloping down towards the eastern bank of the Yarra River, which was only 150 metres away; the intervening land was then open fields, but later became a public park.2


The house itself was large, boasting a ‘ground floor entrance hall, four reception rooms, billiard room, conservatory, kitchen, pantry and sculleries; on the first floor five bedrooms, two bathrooms, three maids’ rooms, maids’ bathroom, boxroom etc’.3 The house also had wide verandas trimmed with wrought-iron lacework at both levels at the front, and a colonnaded tower above the entrance hall. The outbuildings included ‘laundry, man’s room, man’s bathroom, loose box and stall, motor garage and tool shed’.4 As a Victorian-era paterfamilias and pillar of civic rectitude, James Burston probably kept his children firmly in hand, but it is not too hard to imagine the excited Burston children scampering from room to room in Carrical, playing hide-and-seek inside the house and around the spacious grounds, and venturing further afield to fly kites in the adjacent parkland, explore the river bank, ride their ponies in the parkland, go fishing, boating and perhaps even swim in the river.
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Roy Burston at about three years of age. (Photograph from Burston family records.)


As a senior military officer, Melbourne city councillor, and prominent city businessman, James and his wife entertained guests frequently and well. Something of their privileged lifestyle is evident in an interview with Marianne by a reporter from the Weekly Times newspaper for a feature article as her husband was beginning his second term as lord mayor in 1909. Under the headline ‘The Lady Mayoress: Mrs James Burston, Chatelaine of the City’, the report opined that ‘Mrs Burston [had] just the qualities that the wife of the first citizen should have; her social functions [were] brilliantly engineered; her amiable courtesy [was] extended in all directions; her charitable activities [were] stimulated by a warm and energetic sympathy’. 5


By that stage of her life Marianne’s children were largely off her hands—indeed the first of her 16 grandchildren had been born—so she could devote much of her time to supporting her husband’s career. She could also travel with him, for instance to Britain twice before he became lord mayor, and annual trips away from Melbourne to escape the winter, sometimes as far afield as the Great Barrier Reef. It was a lifestyle made possible through the commercial success of the family malting business. Malting was the ladder for the Burstons’ climb into Melbourne’s social and political elite, and it helped ease the next generation of the family towards their own achievements.


Where the Burston children had their early education is unknown. Perhaps it was at the nearby Hawthorn West Primary School, a government school only 500 metres from Carrical. If not there, then possibly it was one of the small private academies then operating in Hawthorn. Whether or not the girls went to a school such as Merton Hall (Melbourne Church of England Girls’ Grammar School) or Presbyterian Ladies’ College (their mother’s old school) is uncertain; but all three boys received their secondary schooling in Anglican grammar schools. The older two, Stan and Roy, attended Melbourne Grammar School; the youngest, Gerald, began at Trinity Grammar School, in the neighbouring suburb, Kew, but later transferred to Geelong Grammar School, where he eventually became school captain.6


Melbourne Grammar School


Little is known of the time that Roy and Stan Burston spent at Melbourne Grammar. They entered the senior school there—Years 9 to 12—in 1900, when they were aged 12 and 13 respectively. With only a year separating them, they remained together in the same grade for the four years they attended the school. They matriculated together at the end of 1903, but only Roy went on to university. Stan went into the family malting business instead and, as seen, spent the rest of his life in its management.


Neither brother appears to have had a distinguished career at Melbourne Grammar. They do not seem to have been notable student leaders; they apparently did not represent the school in any of its sporting teams; nor do they appear to have excelled academically. Their names do appear in Liber Melburnensis, the school’s centenary history, but only in the list of students who attended the school in the period 1858–1962.7 Nor did either brother rate a mention in the commemorative sesquicentenary history published in 2008,8 although Roy was included in Talents Committed, an exhibition featuring 150 notable Old Melburnians—former students—mounted for the school’s sesquicentenary celebrations.9


Even though the Burston brothers might not have made their mark on Melbourne Grammar, the school would certainly have left its imprint upon them. The school is among Australia’s most prestigious—one of the very few to have celebrated its sesquicentenary, and the only one that can claim to have educated no fewer than three prime ministers of Australia.10 Its proud boast is that ‘equipping students with the skills of leadership is … an established part of the … curriculum’.11 Attending such a school conferred other advantages. For Roy these included the lifelong friends he made. Coming from privileged backgrounds similar to his own, they provided him with a ready-made network of medical, military, academic, business and sporting contacts that proved important at all subsequent stages of his career.


Few stories of the Burstons’ time at Melbourne Grammar have survived. Among those that have is their daily commuting between Carrical and the school, a distance of about 11 kilometres. This was done on horseback.12 In the early 1900s, before the era of the motor car, Melbourne’s traffic was still unhurried enough for some of the schoolboys to ride to school. Those who did, like the Burstons, tethered their ponies in the shade at the end of the school oval beside St Kilda Road.


Horse riding was a passion of Roy’s from an early age. His father kept horses in the paddocks between the house and the river at Carrical. James Burston employed a coachman to drive the family carriage, who stayed on as chauffeur after the family bought a motor car to replace the carriage. Helping the coachman care for the horses, and later the car, were household chores for the Burston boys.13


Horse riding probably also helped Roy Burston make friends at Melbourne Grammar. Two of his best mates there, Henry Forbes Creswick (1886–1935) and Simon Fraser (1886–1919), were both from prominent families of pastoralists. Among various others, the Creswicks owned Liewah, a 14,175-hectare sheep station near Moulamein in the Riverina district of New South Wales. Roy holidayed there often, greatly enjoying the opportunity for spending long hours in the saddle.14 It was possibly during one such holiday that he learned to crack a long stock whip, a skill he continued to demonstrate whenever he had an audience, as for example decades later when he had grandchildren to entertain.
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The Fifth (Final) Year Medical Class, University of Melbourne, 1909. Roy Burston (inset) is third from the left, back row. (Photograph courtesy of the University of Melbourne.)


The Frasers also had pastoral interests; Simon was an uncle of the grazier-politician, Malcolm Fraser, Prime Minister of Australia from 1975 to 1983. He also rowed for Australia at the 1912 Olympic Games in Stockholm, and later managed his family’s Nyang station just outside Moulamein. Both these friends died young: Creswick of injuries in a car accident in 1935, and Fraser of pneumonic influenza during the worldwide pandemic of 1919.15


The school friends that Roy chose possibly reflected something of himself and his aspirations. Both Creswick and Fraser, who were each two years older than Roy, were from Victoria’s social and commercial elite, members of families firmly established in what sociologists refer to as the ruling class: land-owning dynasties with extensive commercial interests, who variously provided the colony with leadership in commerce, industry, politics and community organisations.


Both men came from families that maintained mansions in Melbourne’s most prestigious suburb, Toorak, as well as the station homesteads on their pastoral properties. Both went on to graduate from university after Melbourne Grammar, Creswick in law from Oxford and Fraser in engineering from Melbourne. Both served overseas as commissioned officers in World War I. Both excelled in sport. Creswick, a polo player, was later president of the Melbourne Hunt Polo Club and secretary to the Victorian Polo Association. As well as stroking the school rowing VIII, Fraser played football and cricket, and was a champion athlete.16 Both men were gregarious, popular and widely respected within their social circle. Through such older and influential friends, if not through his parents’ social network, the young Roy Burston enjoyed entrée at the highest levels of Melbourne society.


The boy bugler


Roy Burston showed an early interest in matters military. This was hardly surprising, given his father’s army career; but Roy’s was an abiding interest not shared by his brothers. Unlike his friend Simon Fraser, a lieutenant in the Melbourne Grammar military cadet unit, he did not enter the army via the Cadet Corps. Instead he joined the part-time Victorian militia as early as he possibly could, in 1900 at the age of 13, and about the time he began at Melbourne Grammar.17 He joined as a bugler, the army apparently being willing to accept lads that young for the duties that buglers performed. Little is known about how Australia’s colonial, and later national, army used bugle boys; the topic does not rate a mention in sources such as the Oxford Companion to Australian Military History. Australian bugling, it seems, still awaits its great historian.


Burston served as a bugler in two militia units. He first joined his father’s colonial unit, the 2nd Battalion of the Victorian Infantry Brigade. After Federation and the establishment of a national army, he transferred into the 6th Australian Infantry Regiment, again a unit that his father commanded.18 Presumably his duties included regular parades, practice sessions, in-service training on courses of instruction, annual camps, troop manoeuvres, and playing on ceremonial occasions. What is known from his later army records is that he spent five years as a bugler, but which particular years is uncertain.19 It would seem that he was a bugler through all his time at Melbourne Grammar and after he went to university, which he entered shortly before his 17th birthday in 1905.


A biographical profile of Burston published in Smith’s Weekly newspaper in 1941, shortly after his appointment as Director of Medical Services (DMS) for the 2nd AIF, made fun of the idea that a medical corps brigadier had once been a bugle boy: ‘He blew right lustily, and most annoyingly, in practice at break of day’, until his father threatened an end to his bugling career.20 Bugling was a skill that Roy retained. His older son, Sam, recalls that one of his party-tricks later in life was to bring out his old bugle, then astound those present by sounding the bugle calls he had learnt decades earlier. Sam also guessed that his father had become a bugler because he would have seen that as an entrée to a career as a professional soldier.21


If Roy had enjoyed perfect health, a life in the army might well have opened up to him on leaving Melbourne Grammar. According to his long obituary in The Medical Journal of Australia, ‘he had been destined for a military career but while still attending [school] was found to have a heart murmur, which in those days was diagnostic of severe disease’; he was consequently ‘kept at rest for some time, and meanwhile all thought of the Army as a permanent career was abandoned’. 22 Sports were also disallowed,23 perhaps one reason Roy’s name never appeared in the sporting section of The Melburnian. As well as being a horseman, he later became a competent tennis player and golfer and a strong surf swimmer. Though Roy eventually died of a ruptured aortic aneurism, he did not necessarily suffer from a serious heart disease as a youth. Perhaps he was needlessly denied the military career to which he aspired.


Instead of following his father into the army officer caste on leaving school, Roy Burston decided on medicine. He could have entered the family business if he had insisted on doing so, but that was not a realistic option, because the malting firm management structure could accommodate only a limited number of family members.24 Why he chose medical studies is uncertain, as there was no family tradition of practising medicine. Possibly his own experience with a heart murmur made him curious about physiology, which might then have turned him towards medicine.


Roy would also have realised that he had the scholastic aptitude for the long, demanding program of study that medical training entailed, because one effect of his health problem had been to divert his energies into his studies. Unable to play sport, he studied hard instead.25 He matriculated at 15, two years earlier than most other students completing their secondary schooling. His matriculation examination results are unknown, but they must have been good enough to earn him a place in the first year medical course at the University of Melbourne.


In between school and university Roy seems to have spent a year away from formal study. He finished his final year at Melbourne Grammar at the end of 1903, three months before his 16th birthday, but did not enrol at university until 1905. How he spent 1904 is uncertain. He possibly worked as a jackeroo on one of the Creswick family properties, as his younger brother Gerald later did. He might have worked for a time in the family malting business. He possibly spent more time on duty with the militia; he might have used the time to read widely and prepare himself for his future medical studies; and he could also have travelled, perhaps with his parents during their forays beyond Victoria.


The medical student


Burston began his medical studies in the Faculty of Medicine at the University of Melbourne at the beginning of the 1905 academic year. He would have been seven weeks short of his 17th birthday, and among the youngest students in that year’s intake. While at the university he lived in Trinity College, the Anglican residential college there. Founded in 1872, Trinity offered its students tutorials to supplement the lectures in the university faculties. By the time Burston became a resident there, it was also a theological training school for Anglican clergy, and also had a women’s residential section.26 The college in Burston’s time there was therefore both strongly Anglican and progressive.


Not much is known about Burston’s five years at Trinity. According to the college magazine, Fleur de Lys, he played tennis for the fourth tennis team in 1907, his third year in residence, and was promoted to the third team for the 1908 and 1909 seasons, but is not shown as a member of any of the college’s other teams or clubs.27 His son Sam later recalled that at university his father had enjoyed ‘a wonderful social time’.28 By this he meant that Roy had made new friends, partied and danced at balls, began taking an interest in girls, played tennis, and generally enjoyed the extracurricular life of the undergraduate living on-campus. It also meant that Roy neglected his studies. Although he had already proved himself to be an able student at school, he was perhaps too young, immature and lacking in self-discipline during his late teens for university study. That at least is what his academic record suggests.


To say that Roy Burston just scraped through his medical course would be to state the matter kindly. Over the five-year course he had to sit examinations in 15 subjects. He passed only five of these at the first attempt, and was obliged to take supplementary examinations in the others. In no year did he pass all his examinations at the first attempt; and in two of the five years, second and third, he failed all subjects.29 What now seems surprising is that he was allowed to continue at all. How he explained his failures to his father, who was paying his university and college fees, and probably also giving him a generous living allowance, is a moot point. One can only guess at the stern lectures that James Burston delivered on responsibility, duty, application to the task at hand, family honour and wasted opportunity.


Roy Burston eventually did graduate from the University of Melbourne with the double medical degree Bachelor of Medicine and Bachelor of Surgery (MB, BS), but after his classmates in June 1910, rather than December 1909. The Fifth Year Medicine class photograph of 1909 shows 41 mostly young, serious and unsmiling men (and no women that year) facing the camera in their three-piece business suits, collars and ties. A very young-looking 21-year-old Burston, his hair already receding at the temples, stands in the back row, a little uncomfortable, it would seem, in his starched wing-collar shirt.30


Among those in the class photograph were some who went on to very distinguished medical careers. These included T.E. Victor Hurley (1888–1958, a later head of medical services for the Royal Australian Air Force–RAAF), H. Alan S. Newton (1887–1949, a surgeon, and a later president of the Walter and Eliza Hall Institute for Medical Research) and William G.D. Upjohn (1888–1979, a surgeon and later president of the Royal Melbourne Hospital and chancellor of the University of Melbourne), all of whom were later knighted. Like Burston, these and others in the photograph served with the AAMC during World War I.31


Perhaps the enormity of his poor university record only really dawned on Burston after his graduation ceremony on 13 June 1910.32 The conferring of his degree not only signalled the end of his time at university, but also the beginning of what would become a 50-year career as a medical practitioner. The immediate obstacle to that career, however, was Burston’s joblessness. He was a duly qualified medical graduate at the age of 22, though he had not yet spent the customary post-graduation year in residence at a teaching hospital. But what Melbourne hospital would be confident enough to offer an internship to a young doctor with such a lamentable series of recent failures?


Relocating to Adelaide


Burston overcame this first major obstacle in his career path by relocating to Adelaide later in 1910. He somehow succeeded in obtaining a resident’s position there in the Adelaide Children’s Hospital, a well-established institution dating back to 1876. Why the hospital took on such an apparently unpromising recent graduate is uncertain. By doing so, however, it did him a great favour, for he could then set about making up for previous failure.
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The Adelaide Children’s Hospital in 1910, the year in which Burston joined its staff. (Photograph courtesy of State Library of South Australia.)


Burston’s move from Melbourne to Adelaide must have required major adjustments. All his family and friends were in Melbourne; Adelaide was new and unfamiliar terrain. Offsetting those disadvantages, in Adelaide he could make a fresh start. The Adelaide Children’s Hospital offered a clean slate, unsmudged by his indifferent academic record. Exactly when he started at the hospital is uncertain, but he had probably been working there for only a few months when he left to accept a position as a medical inspector with the new Department of Aboriginal Affairs at Darwin.


Burston owed this new job to Professor Walter Baldwin Spencer (1860–1929), the foundation Professor of Biology at the University of Melbourne. Spencer, who would have lectured Burston in biology during the first year of his medical course, was also a pioneering anthropologist of the central Australian Aborigines. After the Commonwealth government assumed control of the Northern Territory in 1911, Spencer was appointed Chief Protector of Aborigines there. Possibly knowing that Burston had not yet established a practice of his own, Spencer persuaded him to accept the medical inspector’s position.33


A medical inspector of Aborigines


Burston was appointed to his Darwin position in March 1911.34 He did not travel there directly, but returned to Melbourne to join a party that Spencer was leading. 35 The Commonwealth government had placed Spencer in charge of an excursion known as the Preliminary Scientific Expedition, which had the task of assessing the potential of the Northern Territory for economic development.36 Also in the party was Professor John Anderson Gilruth (1871–1937), a Scottish-born veterinarian who held the chair of veterinary pathology at the University of Melbourne. In February 1912 Gilruth was appointed as the Administrator of the Territory.37


The expedition left Melbourne aboard the steamer St Albans early in July 1911. The Australian Brewers’ Journal, the mouthpiece of the brewing and malting trade, which periodically reported on the doings of the Burston family, recorded the departure of Spencer’s party, noting that ‘in the terra incognita of Australia, [Dr Burston] will have opportunities for the conduct of original research in the sub-tropical central north of the continent’.38 For Burston it was a great adventure, enabling him to do much travel on horseback. It also gave him the valuable experience of travelling and working with older men of science for an extended period.


A month after Burston arrived in the Northern Territory, the Australian Brewers’ Journal published an account of his first encounter with the Aborigines. Burston would have written about it in a letter to his father, who would have passed it on to the journal. The journal reported that:


Dr Burston sought to get in closer touch with the Aborigines, but his approach was the signal for an unceremonious scatter on the part of the blacks.… After a time, however, he was able to discover the reason for the aloofness of the darkies.… They believed that the doctor was going to cut them all open to see what was the matter with their insides!39


The brewing and malting community were not the only readers to enjoy the story. Burston’s friends at Trinity College did too. In their student magazine, they included this brief note among the reports on the doings of former students: ‘Ginger Burston just appointed to doctor the niggers in the Northern Territory, and a jolly good appointment too. Who says our blacks are a dying race?’40 A later generation of Australians would be little amused by such commentary. At the time, however, the observations simply reflected popular perceptions of the Northern Territory and its Aboriginal peoples, which would have been almost as remote from their ken as the most obscure colony in Africa.
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Roy Burston, Medical Protector of Aborigines, aboard the police cutter in the Gulf of Carpentaria, 1911. (Photograph from Burston family records.)


Once in Darwin, Burston worked with the newly appointed chief medical inspector, Dr Herbert Basedow (1881–1933), who had recently travelled up from Adelaide. 41 About the end of August 1911, however, Burston was sent to the Gulf of Carpentaria hinterland to establish a medical depot on the Roper River.42 While there, he also accompanied the police on their forays into the bush to deal with Aboriginal problems, either sailing in the police cutter or riding on horseback.43 As a result of such experience he developed new interests—tropical diseases and the transmission of infection.44 Thrown on his own resources, the young doctor and former indifferent medical student not only grew up quickly, but also set himself on a career path leading into specialisation as a physician.


Burston spent about a year in the Northern Territory before returning to Adelaide. In the latter part of his time there, he conducted an ‘anthropometric’ survey of Aboriginal men. It was carried out at the request of Spencer, who was interested in physical anthropology and was undertaking a parallel study in Central Australia. It involved taking and recording a standard set of 81 bodily measurements—height, weight, trunk, limbs, cranium and face.45 His subjects were a sample of 102 male Aboriginal prisoners in Darwin, presumably these being the most convenient population for such research.


The study resulted in an official government report on the measurements he had taken. Released by the Department of External Affairs as Bulletin No. 7 in July 1913, with Burston named as author, it had the title Records of the Anthropomorphic Measurements of One Hundred and Two Australian Aborigines.46 How immediately valuable the report was to either medical or anthropological knowledge is unclear, because it was little more than a large matrix of measurements. For Burston, however, it was perhaps a more important exercise personally than as a contribution to science. To start with, it resulted in his first publication; second, it had required systematic, diligent research; and third, knowing that he could successfully complete such a project would have boosted his self-confidence. In later years he relived his times in the Northern Territory by telling his children ‘fascinating stories’ about his sojourn there.47


When the project in Darwin ended, and after about a year in the Northern Territory, Burston gave notice of his resignation from government service. That was in May 1912, with the resignation to be effective from July.48 He took a ketch from Borroloola to Brisbane, and from there caught a steamer back to South Australia.49 Once there, he began putting down roots. He joined the army as a part-time captain in the AAMC. He took over a general medical practice at Mile End, an industrial suburb on the western fringe of the Adelaide city centre. The next year he married Helen Elizabeth Culross, a young woman he had met while working at the Adelaide Children’s Hospital. Born on 17 December 1891, she had not turned 19 when they first met.50 We will consider each of these achievements in turn, in reverse order and starting with Helen Culross.


Helen Elizabeth Culross


Roy Burston’s involvement with Helen Culross was the real reason for his year in the Northern Territory. A blossoming romance, rather than an urge to further the cause of medicine and physical anthropology among the Aborigines, had actually been the reason for Roy abandoning his job at the Adelaide Children’s Hospital. He and Helen met at various parties after his arrival in Adelaide, and they also began playing competition tennis together as mixed doubles partners, with some success.51
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